IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

SHARI NICOLE HINES,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. SC08-2297

The Florida Bar File No. 2008-51,148(17A)

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM A REPORT OF REFEREE

LORRAINE CHRISTINE HOFFMANN, #612669 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Lake Shore Plaza II 1300 Concord Terrace, Suite 130 Sunrise, Florida 33323 (954) 835-0233

KENNETH LAWRENCE MARVIN, #200999 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Bar is seeking review of a Report of Referee recommending that respondent be found not guilty of the charges advanced in The Florida Bar's complaint. Throughout this Initial Brief, The Florida Bar will refer to specific parts of the record as follows: The Report of Referee will be designated as RR _____ (indicating the referenced page number). The two-volume transcript of the final hearing conducted on May 7, 2009 will be designated as TT1 or TT2 (indicating transcript volume number), followed by _____ (indicating the referenced page number). [By example, a reference to transcript volume 1 on page 38 will be set forth as TT1, 38.] The Florida Bar will be referred to "the Bar." Respondent Shari Nicole Hines will be referred to as "respondent."

THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

As to the facts in a Bar disciplinary case, the referee's findings are presumed to be correct unless the appellant demonstrates clear error or a lack of evidentiary support. Absent such evidence, the Court will not reweigh the evidence or substitute its judgment for that of the referee. <u>The Florida Bar v. Rose</u>, 823 So. 2d 727, 729 (Fla. 2002). The Court has more latitude with regard to the recommended discipline, however, and may disregard a referee's determination if the sanction recommended has no reasonable basis in the case law or in the *Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions*. <u>The Florida Bar v. Mason</u>, 826 So. 985, 987 (Fla. 2002).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At a duly constituted meeting of Seventeenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "A," respondent appeared and gave testimony regarding her conduct in this cause. [TT2, 213.] After evaluating her testimony and the other evidence before it, the grievance committee found probable cause to believe that respondent's conduct violated specific provisions of The Rules Regulating the Florida Bar.

Accordingly, The Florida Bar filed a Complaint against respondent, in the Supreme Court of Florida, on December 10, 2008. Respondent filed an answer and the matter was thereafter assigned to The Honorable Diana Lewis, sitting as referee. Judge Lewis was charged with conducting the trial of the matter, and making recommendations to the Supreme Court of Florida. The final hearing occurred on May 7, 2009. [RR, 1.] At the conclusion of the hearing, on the day of the hearing, Judge Lewis announced her findings of fact and recommended that respondent be found not guilty of all charges advanced by The Florida Bar. She also recommended that each party bear its own costs. [RR 11-12.]

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent is a lawyer who, at the time of trial, had nearly 10 years of practice experience. During those years, she owned and ran her own title agency and acquired significant experience in real estate practice. She was also a member of Attorney's Title Insurance Fund (hereinafter "The Fund"). Respondent closed her title agency in 2005. [TT1, 51-52.] By November 2007, respondent's business was slow and she had to move to a smaller office. [TT1, 50.] Through her courier, she met John Mohan (hereinafter "Mohan"), a non-lawyer real estate broker. Mohan told respondent that he was looking for a title company to refer business to because the attorney he had worked with in the past was no longer working with him. Although respondent questioned Mohan about this failed relationship repeatedly, Mohan would not explain himself. Respondent did not press for an explanation. [TT1, 55-56.] Instead, respondent agreed to conduct closings for Mohan's business, Paramount Lending Group (hereinafter "Paramount"). Mohan offered to pay respondent \$300 per closing, and promised respondent about thirty closings per month. Respondent accepted. [TT1, 58-59, 61.] Based on these figures, she could expect an annual income of approximately \$108,000 - just from the real estate closings she did for John Mohan and Paramount. Shortly thereafter, respondent relocated her law office to the same building as Paramount and became a tenant of Paramount. She also opened a new escrow account for her transactions with Paramount, and offered Mohan shared authority over this account. [RR, 3; TT1, 70-71, 79.] Respondent testified that she did this so that, if "simultaneous closings" were scheduled on the same day, Mohan would have access to the escrowed funds and be able to make all necessary disbursements [TT1, 80]. Respondent also testified that her escrow account checks were kept under lock and key in her own, separate office - where Mohan had no access to them. [TT2, 208.] The shared authority over the escrow account that respondent conferred upon Mohan allowed him complete and unfettered access to and control over all of the funds in respondent's escrow account, up to a "certain" amount which respondent could not recall at trial — but which she believed to be "maybe \$250,000." [TT1, 71; TT2, 214.] Respondent (a Fund member under obligation to exert exclusive control over all closing proceeds)¹ recognized the inherent danger of allowing a non-lawyer access to an escrow account maintained in her name. [RR, 3.] Further, respondent testified that she was uncomfortable about Mohan, and felt "weird" about entering into a business relationship with him. But she also testified that her feelings of discomfort changed after her first business transaction

¹ TT1, 187-188.

with him. [TT1, 64-65.] That first closing went forward without incident, and respondent received her \$300 fee. [TT1, 66.]

Respondent's next closing for Paramount was the sale of a home in Deltona, Florida owned by Alyce and Frederick Droege. The Droeges were selling the property to George Melendez. [TT1, 66, 93; RR, 3.] As the Droeges' friend and regular real estate contact had retired and sold his business, they were referred to John Mohan and Paramount. [TT1, 99.] The Droeges are both elderly, and have been married for more than fifty years. [TT1, 93.] To ensure financial security in their final years, the Droeges invested in real property. They owned three rental homes which they knew they could sell, if necessary, to use as a "financial savior" if they "ran into trouble anywhere along the way." [TT1, 96-97.] Unfortunately, they did run into trouble: Alyce Droege developed liver cancer, and is need of a liver transplant. Frederick Droege is a cardiac patient, and required open-heart surgery. [TT1, 95.]

Because of mounting medical bills, the Droeges began to fall behind in their mortgage payments. [TT1, 23, 25.] They also had to marshall funds to cover a liver transplant – as Mrs. Droege could not get the transplant until (and unless) she had the necessary funds in hand to pay for the surgery. [TT1, 98.] Accordingly, the Droeges resolved to sell their Deltona house. They needed \$200,000 for

Mrs. Droege's transplant, and their home sold for (slightly) more than that. The sale of that house was going to be, in Alyce Droege's words, "my liver." [TT1, 99.]

Mohan and Paramount employed Ida Ocasio (hereinafter "Ocasio") as a non-lawyer title processor. [RR, 2.] Ocasio was to handle the Droeges' closing, which had been scheduled for the afternoon of December 17, 2007. On that date, the Droeges appeared in Ocasio's Orlando-area office² at about 2 pm. Mrs. Droege was between surgeries and in poor health, yet she waited in Ocasio's office all afternoon, and until 10 pm that night. [TT1, 100.] Ocasio did not close on the Droeges' house on December 17, 2007. Instead, she directed the Droeges and their buyer to meet her at a local Dennys' restaurant the next day, for the closing. The Droeges agreed to this unorthodox plan, as they had noted respondent's name on the closing documents and felt secure knowing that the matter was being supervised by a Florida lawyer. [TT1, 100-102, 117, 130.]

Prior to December 17, 2007, respondent had reviewed the title commitment on the Droege transaction, and signed off on it. She never received or reviewed the closing documents [TT1, 67], but knew that the buyer's funds had been wired into her Paramount escrow account. [TT2, 199.] Respondent testified that she

² TT1, 70.

contacted Ocasio repeatedly, and asked Ocasio to send her the closing documents to review before the closing. Respondent testified that Ocasio "kept delaying," and "kept saying they were coming by fax, they were coming by e-mail, they were coming by fax, they were coming by e-mail," but respondent never received them. Respondent testified that she kept asking Ocasio for the closing documents because she knew it was her obligation to make sure that the closing went forward correctly. [TT1, 68-69.]

Late in the evening on December 17, 2007, while the Droeges were waiting in her office to close on their house, Ocasio telephoned respondent's Broward County office, and asked her to send her ten blank but signed escrow account checks, to be used for the Droege closing. Ocasio told respondent that the lender had directed that the closing take place that day, and asked respondent to send the blank, signed escrow account checks to her via Federal Express (overnight mail). [TT1, 69.] Respondent testified that she signed the ten blank escrow account checks, and sent them to Ocasio via Federal Express, because she did not want to "kill the deal." [TT1, 72.] Respondent's conduct, in sending Ocasio the ten signed but blank escrow account checks, violated respondent's duties as a member of The Fund. [TT1, 187.] The next afternoon, December 18, 2007, the Droeges and their buyer met Ocasio at a Dennys' restaurant for their closing. [TT1, 100-102.] They reviewed and signed the necessary documents, understood that Ocasio was sending a pay-off check to their mortgage company (in the amount of \$35,293.30),³ and received from Ocasio a check made payable to them, in the amount of \$128,802.68, for their sale proceeds. [TT1, 102, 176.]

By the time of the closing on their rental property, the Droeges' financial situation had become worse. They had pressing financial obligations and Mrs. Droege needed to deposit and access their sale proceeds immediately. As soon as her bank opened the next day (December 19, 2007), Mrs. Droege deposited the check that Ocasio had given to her and made arrangements with her bank to "use ten thousand of it immediately." She wrote checks against that \$10,000 immediate credit that very day. Because she expected the check to clear within a three to four day period, Mrs. Droege also began to write checks against the rest of her sale proceeds. [TT1, 103-104.] Shortly thereafter, Mrs. Droege received a call from her bank, informing her that her checks, drawn against the check she had received from Paramount and Ocasio, "were all bouncing." Mrs. Droege was summoned to her bank, and learned that John Mohan had "withdrawn" her funds.

³ TT1, 188.

She also learned that her checks were "bouncing everywhere," and that she was incurring "lots" of fees and penalties. Mrs. Droege repeatedly tried to call respondent, without success. [TT1, 104-105.]

A representative from the Droeges' bank telephoned and spoke with respondent on December 24, 2007. [TT1, 77, 80.] During that call, respondent learned that Mohan had put a stop-payment on the Droeges' check. [TT1, 77.] Respondent did not call the Droeges [TT1, 80-81], and she did not call The Fund. [TT1, 87.] Instead, she went into her office and checked her escrow account, online. All of the Droeges' funds were still in the account. Respondent testified that she did not take steps to "freeze" the account that day, to stop Mohan's actual access to the Droeges' funds, because she "would have had to go into the bank" to freeze the account. [TT1, 82.] Instead, respondent waited until "after the holidays" and then called her escrow bank and "asked them to stop any transactions that had [Mohan's] name or initials or anything attached to it." [TT1, 80.] She also tried to find Mohan.

By the time respondent reached Mohan two or three days later, Mohan had already wired the Droeges' funds into his own, personal accounts. [TT1, 84.] Respondent did not call the Droeges or The Fund. [TT1, 87.] Instead, she accompanied Mohan to his office, where they viewed Mohan's personal bank

accounts, online. Respondent saw that Mohan had \$10,800 of the Droeges' money remaining in one of his personal accounts, and \$15,000 of their funds remaining in another of his personal accounts. [Respondent later learned that Mohan had made two wire transfers from the escrow account into his personal accounts: one in the amount of \$60,000 and the other in the amount of \$88,600. See TT2, 216.] Respondent caused Mohan to transfer the \$25,800 back into her escrow account, and forwarded this money to the Droeges, with some residual funds Mohan had left in respondent's escrow account. [TT1, 85; TT2, 216.] At this point, respondent was able to send the Droeges an escrow account check in the amount of \$45,000. [TT1, 180.] Respondent did not then know that Mohan and Ocasio had also failed to pay off the Droeges' mortgage. [TT1, 85, 176.] Between December 24, 2007 and December 31, 2007, respondent learned that the Droeges' mortgage had not been paid. She continued in her efforts to obtain the missing funds from Mohan. [TT1, 87.] Although she knew that she had lost all control of the Droeges' sale proceeds and mortgage pay-off monies, respondent still did not call the Droeges or their mortgage company, and she still did not call The Fund. [TT1, 87, 89.] Respondent did not call her mentor, Barry Sickles, Esq. [TT1, 141] Instead, respondent called her (friend and) lawyer, Kaye Ann Baxter, Esq. Ms. Baxter told respondent to call "the authorities." [TT1, 149.] Respondent testified that she

didn't realize that Mohan had stolen the Droeges' money until December 31, 2007, when she finally called the police. Respondent had no contact with The Fund until January 16, 2008, when she called and asked about filing a claim. She was directed to do so by letter. [TT1, 88.]

During the intervening month since their closing, the Droeges' financial predicament grew worse each day. [TT1, 30.] The Droeges were in poor health, and were growing worse. [TT1, 109-110.] In addition to their original financial problems, they were now dealing with snowballing bank fees and threatened foreclosure on their other rental properties. [TT1, 30, 39.] They also had to meet the continuing mortgage payment on the house they had sold. [TT1, 111-112.] By January 14, 2008, the Droeges had became overwhelmed by the situation [TT1, 41.], and were in "a state of crisis." [TT1, 25.] They retained Philip Bonus, Esq. (hereinafter "Bonus") to assist them. [TT1, 26, 37, 108.] Susanne McCabe, Esq. (hereinafter McCabe) was of counsel to Bonus' law firm, and assisted in the Droege matter, as well. [TT1, 22.]

McCabe contacted The Fund, on the Droeges' behalf, on January 20 or 22, 2008. She spoke with Margaret Williams, a supervisor. [TT1, 27.] Margaret Williams told McCabe that The Fund had not received any claim regarding the ongoing Droege problem. [TT1, 27, 33, 45.] Through the efforts of Bonus and

McCabe, the Droeges' claim was filed and investigated, and The Fund paid their claim on February 29, 2008 [TT1, 46.] The Fund paid off the Droeges' mortgage (\$35,293.30), the remaining balance of their sale proceeds (\$83,802.68), and the recording fees (\$2,538.00). [TT1, 188.] Coming as it did more than two months after their botched closing, this satisfied claim did not make the Droeges' whole because it did not cover the "deficits" created by respondent's dishonored escrow account check. By the time The Fund paid their claim, one of the Droeges' rental properties had gone into foreclosure and the remaining one was in peril. [TT1, 123.] Although respondent had promised to "fix the problem" for the Droeges [TT1, 120], she did nothing. As a result, after selling their house to solve their financial problems, the Droeges had incurred so many fines, penalties, and bank charges that they were now further behind than they had been before — despite the fact that they were now one house poorer. And Alyce Droege still needed a liver transplant that she still could not afford. [TT1, 113.]

At trial, both parties attempted to present evidence in support of their respective claims of mitigation and aggravation, under the guidelines established by the *Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions*. In mitigation of her conduct, respondent presented the testimony of two character witnesses: Barry Sickles, Esq., and Kaye Ann Baxter, Esq. Both testified as to respondent's good

character [TT1, 135-136, 145], but both also testified that they themselves would never engage in the conduct demonstrated by respondent in the instant case. [TT1, 139, 153.] In order to prove aggravation (in the form of the harm that respondent caused the Droeges and The Fund), The Florida Bar attempted to present evidence of the losses sustained by both. The referee disallowed such evidence, and sustained a defense objection to The Florida Bar's Exhibit 5, which was not admitted into evidence. [TT1, 31, 42, TT2, 218.]

At trial, The Florida Bar made an ore tenus motion to amend the Bar's complaint to conform to the evidence adduced at trial. Because respondent advanced no objection and made no showing of prejudice, the Bar's motion was granted, pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.6(f)(1) and Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.190(b). [RR, 7.] After making this ruling, the referee found that The Florida Bar "failed to present by clear and convincing evidence of the rule violations plead [sic] in their complaint," and found respondent not guilty of all charges [RR, 6.] and deserving of no Bar discipline. [RR, 11.] The referee recommended that each side bear its own costs. [TT2, 257.]

In reaching her conclusions, the referee expressly relied upon Florida Bar Ethics Opinion 64-40 to support her finding that respondent bore no liability for her conduct in allowing Mohan unfettered access to her escrow account. [RR, 6.]

The referee noted that respondent's conduct in this case evidenced "a stupid mistake" which "cost some people some harm." [TT2, 250.] The referee found that respondent could not be held accountable for Mohan's conduct in the matter because respondent didn't order it, know about it or ratify it. The referee also stated that she was not persuaded by The Florida Bar's argument that respondent did nothing to protect the Droeges' funds after Mohan's stop-payment (respondent testified that she saw the Droege money still on deposit in her escrow account *after* Mohan placed the stop-payment order on the Droeges' checks — but did nothing to freeze or secure the account until after the holidays) because respondent may have been mistaken about what she saw online [TT2, 251.], and because it is "very difficult to. . . do much during the holidays." [TT2, 252.] In closing her post-trial remarks, the referee urged respondent to "still continue to be a role model by learning from [her] mistakes and advising young women as to how not to make mistakes in the future." [TT2, 255.]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

By November 2007, respondent had practiced law for nearly ten years in the areas of personal injury representation and real estate. For about two years, she ran her own title agency. In late 2007, respondent had begun to experience financial difficulties caused by a lack of business. As a result, she was forced to relocate her office to a smaller space. So, when respondent's courier introduced her to John Mohan to discuss a business proposal, respondent was keenly interested in what Mohan had to say.

Mohan was a non-lawyer who engaged in real estate transactions through his company, Paramount Lending. Mohan told respondent that he was no longer doing business with the lawyer with whom he had worked in the past, and was looking for someone to replace him. This was respondent's *first warning* about Mohan's prospective behavior. Respondent recognized the warning and questioned Mohan repeatedly about the circumstances of the broken relationship. However, respondent's interest in Mohan's business opportunity overshadowed her sense of caution, and she allowed Mohan to dodge her questions about Mohan's severed relationship with his prior lawyer. Instead, respondent accepted Mohan's offer to pay her \$300 for each closing she handled on behalf of Paramount. Mohan promised respondent about 30 closings a month, generating an annual income for her of about \$108,000 — exclusive of her law practice. In preparation for the profitable work she hoped would follow, respondent suggested that she and Mohan open a joint escrow account for the Paramount closings. In this way, both she and Mohan would have full access to the escrow account and would be able to handle simultaneous closings, or multiple closings in different places on the same day. Respondent acknowledged that she felt "weird" about this business relationship with Mohan, and testified that she put a very large cap (of about \$250,000) on the amount of escrow funds that Mohan could access without her joint approval. However, she also testified that these misgivings abated after her first successful closing for Paramount — without problem or issue.

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