# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	Supreme Court Case
	No. SC08-2297
Complainant,	
	The Florida Bar File
v.	No. 2008-51,148(17A)
SHARI NICOLE HINES,	
Respondent.	

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822 RICHARDSON & TYNAN, P.L.C. Attorneys for Respondent 8142 North University Drive Tamarac, FL 33321 954-721-7300

# **

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. A LAWYER IS ONLY ETHICALLY RESPONSIBLE FOR THE MISDEEDS OF A NONLAWYER IF THE LAWYER ORDERS THE CONDUCT, RATIFIES IT OR KNOWS OF THE CONDUCT AT THE TIME AND FAILS TO PREVENT THE CONDUCT12
II. NO DISCIPLINARY SANCTION IS WARRANTED IN THIS CASE
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATION AS TO FONT SIZE AND STYLE

# TABLE OF CASES AND CITATIONS

Cases	Page(s)
1.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Abrams</i> , 919 So. 2d 425 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 2006) 21
2.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Armas</i> , 518 So. 2d 919 (Fla. 1988)
3.	<i>The Bar v. Canto</i> , 668 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1996)
4.	<i>The Florida Bar v. DellaDonna</i> , 583 So. 2d 307 (Fla. 1989) 16
5.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Flowers</i> , 672 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1996) 20,21
6.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Kelly</i> , 813 So.2d 85 (Fla. 2002)
7.	The Florida Bar v. Lawless, 640 so. 2d 1098 (Fla. 1994)
8.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Neale</i> , 384 So. 2d 1264 (Fla. 1980) 16
9.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Perez</i> , 608 So. 2d 777 (Fla. 1992)
10.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Porter</i> , 684 So. 2d 810 (Fla. 1996)

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Bar, Appellant, will be referred to as "the Bar" or "The Florida Bar." Shari Nicole Hines, Appellee, will be referred to as "Respondent." The symbol "RR" will be used to designate the report of referee and the symbol "TT" will be used to designate the transcript of the final hearing held in this matter. Exhibits introduced by the parties will be designated as TFB Ex. \_\_ or Resp. Ex. \_\_. Further, the symbol "PTS" will be used to designate the joint pretrial stipulation entered into by the parties.

# **STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS**

The Florida Bar's statement of the case and facts is incomplete and contains matters not found supported by the Referee and as such the Respondent, Shari Nicole Hines, feels compelled to set forth a more accurate recitation of the case and facts.

On December 10, 2008, The Florida Bar filed a one count complaint against the Respondent and the case was assigned to Honorable Diana Lewis to serve as Referee in this matter. The final hearing was held on Thursday, May 7, 2009 and at the conclusion of the trial the Referee entered extensive factual findings wherein she found the Respondent not guilty of all rule violations alleged by The Florida Bar. See TT 247-258. This ruling was reduced to a Report of Referee which was served on June 5, 2009. Notwithstanding a specific finding that the Bar had failed to meet its burden of proof on any issue presented, the Bar now seeks review of the not guilty finding and seeks to secure a ninety one day suspension for a lawyer who has never previously been disciplined.

In fact on one charge the Referee specifically found that the Bar had presented **no** evidence at all. See RR at paragraph 26. On yet another charge the Referee pointedly found that there "was not a scintilla of evidence." See RR at paragraph 27.

The parties entered into a detailed pre-trial stipulation that encompassed the salient facts of the case. The Referee adopted these agreed facts into her Report of Referee and set them forth as follows:

- 1. Prior to November 2007, part of respondent's law practice included real estate transactions and she was introduced to a company known as Paramount Lending Group (hereinafter "Paramount").
- 2. The principal of Paramount was John Mohan (hereinafter "Mohan"), a nonlawyer. Ida Ocasio (hereinafter "Ocasio") was employed by Paramount as a non-lawyer title processor.
- 3. In late November 2007, the Respondent began accepting potential real estate closings from Paramount. During the course of the business relationship, the Respondent assumed responsibility for two closings that were generated by Paramount. The second of these closings was a transaction between Alyce and Frederick Droege (the sellers) and George Melendez (the buyer).
- 4. Prior to either of the above-mentioned real estate transactions, the Respondent had relocated her law office to the same building as Paramount and became a tenant of Paramount.
- 5. Prior to either of the above-mentioned real estate transactions, the Respondent opened a new escrow account for any and all transactions she would complete with Paramount. The Respondent gave Mohan shared signatory authority over this escrow account.
- 6. The Droege to Melendez transaction involved the sale of a home owned by the Droeges and located in Deltona, Florida.
- 7. On or about December 17, 2007, the Respondent was advised by Ocasio that the Droege to Melendez transaction needed to close that day in Orlando, Florida, pursuant to the closing instructions provided by the lender. As a result of this conversation, the

Respondent forwarded, via Fed Ex, 10 blank, signed escrow account checks, to be used for the closing.

- 8. On December 18, 2007, the closing was conducted by Ocasio, with all parties executing the required closing documents. The Respondent did not attend the closing.
- 9. Respondent did not see, review, or approve the closing documents before the closing.
- 10. The HUD-1 closing statement executed by all parties to the closing indicated that a mortgage held by Dovenmuehle Mortgage, Inc, in the amount of \$34,714.10 was to be satisfied and that the Droeges were to be paid the sum of \$128,802.68 as their proceeds from the sale.
- 11. After executing their closing documents the Droeges were given, by Ocasio, an escrow account check drawn in their favor in the amount of \$128,802.68.
- 12. The Droeges deposited this \$128,802.68 into their account at SunTrust, were advised by the bank that there would be a ten day hold on the check but that ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00) of that check would be credited immediately and available for use by the Droeges. The Droeges wrote checks against this \$10,000.00.
- 13. On December 24, 2007, SunTrust advised the Droeges that the \$128,802.68 was being dishonored because a stop payment order had been issued regarding said check.
- 14. It was subsequently determined that Mohan had placed a stop payment order on the \$128,802.68 check and that he had misappropriated these funds, as well as the required mortgage pay-off in the amount of \$34,714.10 to his own use by electronically transferring these funds to his own bank account.
- 15. The Respondent, through a SunTrust banking officer, was made aware of the stop payment order, on or about December 27, 2007.

- 16. The Respondent was able to recover the sum of \$45,000.00 from Mohan, wired this sum to the Droeges on or about January 2, 2008.
- 17. After discovering that Mohan had misappropriated the aforementioned funds, the Respondent reported the matter to criminal authorities, who initiated a successful criminal action against Mohan.
- 18. The problems with the Droege to Melendez transaction were reported to respondent's underwriter, Attorney's Title Insurance Fund.
- 19. On February 28, 2008, the Fund, through its counsel, satisfied the Dovenmuehle mortgage and also sent the Droeges a check in the amount of \$83,802.68. This check, when coupled with the \$45,000.00 previously sent to them by the Respondent, completed the restitution owed to the Droeges as a result of Mohan's theft of the proceeds from their original escrow check. RR 2-5.

The foregoing factual recitation, also found verbatim in the party's joint pretrial stipulation, resolved all contested factual matters except two and they were: (1) whether the Respondent failed to supervise Ocasio regarding the Droege to Melendez transaction and (2) whether the Respondent unethically allowed Mohan, a nonlawyer, to be a signatory on her escrow account. All remaining issues that were listed by the parties as still in dispute prior to the trial was whether the Respondent had violated any of the rules set forth in the Bar's complaint and whether a disciplinary sanction should be imposed.

To resolve these remaining disputes the parties introduced certain exhibits and presented various witnesses. The Referee briefly summed up these witnesses as follows:

During the final hearing I heard testimony from Alyce Droege, the seller of the property in question, Susan D. McCabe, Esq. and Phillip F. Bonus, Esq., who represented Alyce and Frederick Droege with their post closing problems, Michele Primeau, Esq., Shari Hines, Esq., the Respondent, Kaye Ann Baxter, Esq., who was primarily a character witness but she had represented the Respondent relative to the legal problems that arose because of the Droege closing and Barry M. Sickles, Esq., who was a character witness. RR para.20.

After considering the testimony of the various witnesses and the trial exhibits the Referee concluded that the Bar had failed to establish its case. The Referee succinctly summed up the Bar's case as follows:

At the core of the Bar's presentation was the fact that the Respondent had placed a non-lawyer on her escrow account as a signatory and that this decision ultimately provided the vehicle by which Mr. Mohan engaged in criminal conduct. The referee was presented with no evidence that it was unethical for an attorney to have a non-lawyer signatory on a trust account. In fact, the Respondent pointed to a Florida Bar Ethics Opinion that specifically sanctioned such action. See Fla. Ethics Opinion 64-40. Furthermore the referee finds that at the time of her decision to make Mr. Mohan a signatory on the account, she had no reason not to trust him and there were no warning signs that he might engage in criminal activity until he had stolen the money. RR para.22.

The Referee then carefully analyzed each rule violation plead by the Bar and during her ruling even encouraged the Bar to make further argument on particular rules prior to entering her ruling. The Referee in her report resolves each of the alleged rule violations as follows:

24. As to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.1 [A lawyer shall provide competent representation to a client. Competent representation requires the legal knowledge, skill, thoroughness, and preparation reasonably necessary for the representation.], I find the

Respondent did not violate this rule as the Bar did not present clear and convincing evidence that this rule was violated.

- 25. The Referee finds that the Respondent did not violate R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.15 [A lawyer shall comply with the rules Regulating Trust Accounts.] in that there was no evidence that merely having a lay person on an escrow account was unethical. The referee recognizes, as does the Respondent after the fact, that this was not necessarily a good business practice or the exercise of prudent judgment.
- 26. The Referee finds that the Respondent did not violate R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-5.3(a) [A person who uses the title paralegal, legal assistant, or other similar term when offering or providing services to the public must work for or under the direction of or supervision of a lawyer or an authorized business entity as defined elsewhere in the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.] as the Bar has presented no evidence that would form the basis for a violation of this rule. The referee recognizes that Respondent's efforts to review the closing documents prior to the closing were thwarted by Ocasio. when the closing documents were received they appeared to be in good order with the exception of a missing deed that may or may not have been available at the closing.
- 27. The Referee finds that the Respondent did not violate R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-5.3(b) [With respect to a nonlawyer employed or retained by or associated with a lawyer or an authorized business entity as defined elsewhere in the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar: (1) as a partner, and a lawyer who individually or together with other lawyers possesses comparable managerial authority in a law firm, shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that the firm has in effect measures giving reasonable assurance that the person's conduct is compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer; (2) a lawyer having direct supervisory authority over the nonlawyer shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that the person's conduct is compatible with the professional obligations of the lawyer; and (3) a lawyer shall be responsible for conduct of such a person that would be a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct if engaged in by a lawyer if (A) the lawyer orders or, with the knowledge of the specific conduct ratifies the conduct involved; or (B) the lawyer is a partner or

has comparable managerial authority over the person, and knows of the conduct at a time when its consequences can be avoided or mitigated and fails to take reasonable remedial action.]. The Referee finds that the Respondent exercised poor judgment in forwarding blank pre-signed escrow account checks to the closing paralegal. However, they were written to the proper parties.<sup>2</sup> The Referee also finds that Respondent's attempt to place controls on the escrow account utilized by Mohan were unsuccessful. It was Mohan who committed the criminal act. The rule requires that a lawyer is responsible for the conduct of another person if they ordered it, ratified it or knew of the conduct at the time. There was not a scintilla of evidence to that effect.

- 28. The Referee finds that the Respondent did not violate R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-5.3(c) [Although paralegals or legal assistants may perform the duties delegated to them by the lawyer without the presence or active involvement of the lawyer, the lawyer shall review and be responsible for the work product of the paralegals or legal assistants.]. This rule makes a lawyer responsible for the work product of their paralegals and legal assistants. The only testimony was that the Respondent was making every effort to get the closing documents, before and after the closing, and that ultimately she secured the closing file and reviewed it. The Respondent testified that the only problem she saw with the closing file was that the original executed deed was missing but there is no evidence that the deed was actually missing at the time of the closing.
- 29. The Referee finds that the Respondent did not violate R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-8.4(a) [A lawyer shall not violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another.] as the Referee finds that the Respondent had no knowledge of what Mr. Mohan was doing, until after it had occurred. The fact that the Respondent was initially misled by Mr. Mohan that it was just a "mistake" does not change the opinion of the Referee.

- 8 -

-

Further, the Bar has raised no argument that the checks were filled out in an incorrect amount. (footnote added by Respondent).

30. I find the Respondent not guilty of 4-8.4(d) [A lawyer shall not engage in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice . . .]. The conduct described in the testimony and evidence does not appear to fit the type of conduct specifically referenced in the rule. The Bar did not present clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent's conduct was prejudicial to the administration of justice. The Referee does not condone or endorse the decisions of the Respondent of allowing Mohan access to the escrow account. It is extremely unfortunate that the Droeges were harmed as a result of Mohan's criminal conduct.

Having found the Respondent not guilty of all charges, the Referee did not make a sanction recommendation and found that both sides should bear their own costs. The Bar has filed an appeal of the referee's findings of fact, her not guilty findings and seeks to impose a disciplinary sanction where none is warranted.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

A Referee has found a lawyer not guilty of charges that were leveled against her by The Florida Bar. The Referee specifically found not only that the Bar had failed to prove its case by clear and convincing evidence, the Referee further found that the Bar had presented no evidence at all as to one alleged rule violation and as to another claim of ethical breach specifically found that there "was not a scintilla of evidence" relative to that charge. With this background in mind the Bar bears a heavy burden to demonstrate that the Referee's findings are clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support. Not only has the Bar failed to meet its evidentiary burden at trial, it has failed to meet its burden on this appeal.

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